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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

i o

| SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF'éALIFORNIA

June 2014 Grand Jury

16 TR 0 13 1 BAS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Cage No.

v. L¥pfcTuEND I
FERMIN IGLESIAS (1), ' Title. 18, U.8.C., Sec. 371 -
CARLOS ARGUELLO (2], _ Conspiracy to Commit Honest
MIGUEL. MORALES {3}, ) Services ‘Mall and Wire Fraud,
PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, INC. (4), ' |Mail and Wire Fraud, and Travel
MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC. (5), ‘ Act; Title 18, U.8.C., Secs. 1341
PRIME HOLDINGS INT., INC, (&), and 1346 ~ Honest Services Mail
MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESQURCES, INC., Fraud; Title 18, U.8.(C.,
d.b.al Meridian Rehab Care (7)), Sec. 2 - Alding and Abetting;
: S Title 18, U.8.C., S
Defendants. Sec. 981(a)(l)(C), and Title 28,
U.8.¢., 8ec., 2461l (¢) - Criminal
Forfeiture '

The Grand Jury charges, at all times relevant:

INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

THE DEFENDANTS AND OTHER PARTICIPANTS
1. Pefendants FERMIN IGLESIAS and CARLOS ARGUELLO recruited and
referred workefs compensatilon appiicants (“applicants”) for legal and
medical services in the Southern Dlstrict of California and elsgewhere.
In order to effectuate this recruitment and referral scheme, both
IGLESIAS and ARGUELLO controlled _and' operated _multiple entities,
including, defendants PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, INC., MEDEX SOLUTIONS,

VHC CPHIFAS:nlv: 8an Diago
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INC., MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESQURCES, INC,; d.b.a. Meridian Rehab.Care,
and PRIME HOLDINGS TINT., INC.

2. Defendant MIGUEL MORALES ({*MORALES*) wag an adminigtrator
for sgeveral of defendani: IGLESIAS'S entities, including defendants
PROVIDENCE -SCHEDULING, MEDEX and -PRIME HOLDINGS, and Advanced
Radiology. |

3. Defendant PROVIDENCE . SCHEDULING, INC. - (“PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING") was a California Coxrporation formed in December 5009,
which oversaw the scheduling of applicants recruited by defendant
ARGUELLO and others, and their assignment to a primary treating
physician, which inéluded chifopréctors.» Defendants IGLESIAS and

ARGUELLO decided which physicians were eligible to receive applicants

from defendant PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING,

4, Defendant MEDEX‘SOLUTIONS, INC. (“MEDEX”) was a California
corporation, formed in June 2611‘, Defendant PRIME HOLDINGS INT.,  INC.
(“"PRIME HOLDiNGS”).was a California corporation, formed in May 2011.
Defendant IGLESIAS was listed as the c¢hief executive offilcer, chief
financial officer and secretary of defendants MEDEX. SOLUTIONS and
PRIME HOLDINGS, both of which' oversaw the gcheduling of épplicants for
aﬁcillary gervices, such as'nmgnetic regonance imaging (“MRIg”), as
referred by pfimary treating physicians chosen by defendant PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING, | |

5. Defendant MBRIDIAN MEDICAL RESOﬁRCES, INC., d.b.a. Meridian
Rehab Care'(“MERIDIAN"), was a California corporation, formed in July
2010, which listed IGLESIAS as the chief executive officer and
gecretary of defendant MERIDIAN, which provided durable medical
equipment (“DME”) to applicants referred by primary treating
physicians, including chiropfactors.
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6. Dr. .SteVen Rigler {charged elgewhere) was a chiropractér
licensed to practice din California, who operated three clinics
speclalizing in chiropractic medicine in the Southern Diestrict of
California.

7. Julian Garcia {charged elsewhere) assisted defendants
IGLESIAS and ARGUELLO by coordinating and overseeing tgé referral of
applicants for ancillary procedures and DME. From at least 2012
through 2014, Julian Garcia managed applicants assigned to Dr. Rigler
by defendant PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING lin. order to ensure that those
applicants for whom "anc¢illary pr;ceduresl and DME were recommended
and/or preséribed, were referred to specific providers as directed by
defendants IGLESIAS and ARGUELLO.

8. Physicians, inciuding medical doctors and chirépractors;
owéd a fiduciafyfduty to theif patients, requiring physicians to act
in their patients’ best inEerests, and not for their own professional,
pecuniary, or personal gain. Physiciang owed a duty of honest
gervices to their patients for decisions wade relating to the care of
those patients, including the informed choiceras to whether to undergo
ancillary procedures and receive DME and, if so,, an infoxrmed choice as
to the providgrs of such ancillary procedures and DME.

CALYFORNIA WORKERS' COMPENSATION SYSTEM

9, The California  Workers’ Compensgation 8System {»*CwWeg™")
rquired that employers' in California .provide workerg’ compengation
benefite to their employees for qualifying injuries sustained in the
coursge of their employment, Under the CWCS, all'claims for paymentg
for services or benefits provided to the injured employee, including
medical and legal fees, were billed directly to, and pald by, the
ingurer, Most unpaid claimg for payment were permitted to be filed as

3
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liens against the employee’s workers' compensation «laim, which accrue
interest until paid in an amount ordered by the Workers’ Compensation
Appeals Board or an amount negotiated between the insurer and the
service or benefits provider. The CWCS was regulated by the
California Labor Code, the Califofnia Insurance ‘Code, .and the
California Code of Regulations, and was administered by the California
Department of Industrial Relations. |

10. - CWCE benefits were administered by the employer, an insurer
or a third pakty’ édministrator; - The CWCS required claims
adminigtrators to authorize and pay for medical care that was
“reagonably required to cure or relieve the injured worker from the|
effects of his or ‘her injury,” and includes medical, surgical,
chiropractic, acupuncture, and hospital treatment.

11. cCalifernia law, including but not limited to tﬁe California
Busginegs and Prﬁfessions Code, the California Insurance Code, and‘the
California Labor Code, ‘prohibited the offering, delivering,
gsoliciting, or receiving of anything of value in return for referring
a .patient 'ﬁor ancillary procedures. | The California Labor Code
gpecifically prohibited cross-referrals if one referral wag dépendent
on the other referral occurring. Moreover, the California Labor Code
voided as a matter of iaw any claim aﬁbmittgd to an insurer which had
been secured in wviolation of the ban on bribes or kickbacks, whether
in the form of monetary payment or a crosg-referral schemg, |

Count 1 J‘
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT HONEST SERVICES MAIL AND WIRE FRAUD,

MATL FRAUD, WIRE FRAUD AND VIOLATE THE TRAVEL ACT, 18 USC § 371 .

12,  Paragrsphs 1 through 11 of thig Indictment are realleged and
. . l‘\.' .

, 5
incorporated by reference. g

. H
i .
1\?{
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13. Beginning on a date unknown and continuing through at least|
May 2015, within the 8outhern District of California and elsewhere,
defendanté FERMIN IGLESIAS, _ CARLQQ ARGUELLO, MIGUETL MORALES,
PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, .INC., 'MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC,, PRIME HOLDINGS
INT., INC., and MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESCURCES, INC., d.b.a.r Meridian
Rehab Care, and others knowingly and intentionally conspired with each
other to:

a. commit Honegt Services Mail and Wire Fraud, that- is,
knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devise and participate in a
material sqheme‘to defraud and to deprive patlents of the intangible
right to Dr. Steven Riglér’s honegt sgervices, and cauge mailings or
use of the interstate wires in fuktherance of the scheme, in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343 and 1346;

b, commit Maill Fraud, that is, knowingly and with the intent to
defraud, devise a material scheme to defraud, and to obtain money and
property by means of materially falge and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, promiges, and omisgions and concealments of materiall
facts, and cause mailings in furtherance of the scheme, in wviolatlon
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; -

¢. commit Wire Fraud, that is, knowingly and with the intent to|
defraud, devige a material scheme to defraud, and to obtain money and
property by means of materially falese and fraudulent pretenses,’
repregentationg, promiges, and omiésions and concealments of material
facts, and cause uge of the wires 1n furtherance of the sgcheme, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and

d. uge and cause to be uged facllities in interstate éommerce
with dintent- - to promote, wmwanage, establish, carry on, distribute the
proceedsvéf, and facilitate -the promotion, management, egtablishment,

5




10
11
12
13
14
15

16

17

18
19
20
21
22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 3:16-cr-00131-BAS Document 1 Filed 01/21/16 Page 6 of 15

carrying on, and distribution of the proceeds of an unlawful activity,
that is, briﬁery in violation of California Labor Code Sections 135.3,
139.32, and 3218, * California Business and  Professions  Code
Section 650, and California . Insurance Code Section 750 and,
thereafter, to promote and attempt to perform acts to promote, manage,
establish, carxry on, distribute the proceeds of, ‘and facilitate the

promotion, management, establisghment, carrying on, and disgtribution of

the proceeds cf such unlawful activity, 1in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1952 (a) (1) (A) and (a) (3) (A).

| FRAUDULENT PURPCOSE

14. It was a purpocse of the congpiracy to fraudulently obtain
money f£rom éWCS insurers by submitting claimg for ancillary procedures
and DME that were gecured throuch a pattern of bribes and kickbacks in
the form of an illegal crogs-referral scheme to Dr., Rigler, and to
thosé acting with him and on his behalf, in exchange for the referral
of patilents to particular providers of ancillary procedures and DME,
in violation of Dr. Rigler's fiduciary. duty to his patients, and
concealing from patients and_insurers these bribes and kickbackg.

| MANNER AND MEANS
15. 'The conspirators used the following manner and meansg in

furtherance of the conspiracy:

a. Defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, MORALES, and PROVIDENCE

SCHEDULING, knowing that the payment of bkribes and kicﬁbacks in the
form of a cross-referral gcheme was unlawful, offered to refer
applicants wanting medical carxe to Dr. Rigler, in exchange for his
agreement‘to refer such applicants for ancillary procedures and DME to

certain co-conspirators.
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b. Defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, MORALES, knowing that Ehe
payment of bribes and kickbacks in the form of-a crogs~-referral schemé
wag unlawful,  assigned a “vwalue” to certain ancillary proceduresg and
DME, such asg 830-850 per MRI referral, and inféﬁmed Dx. Rigler of
those values.

o, Defendantas IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, and MORALES set a quota for
the. “value” of ancillary services and DME Dr.,Rigler was expected to
pfescribe for each appl;éant sent.to him by PROVIDENCE SCHEDULI&G.

d. When Dr. Rigler fell behind -in meeting the quota for
ancillaxry procedures and DME, defendants IGLESIASL ARGUELLO, MORALES,
and PROVIDEﬁCE SCHEDULING ceased to assign applicants to Dr. Rigler
until he agreed to make up for the shortfalil in soﬁe manner,

e, Defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLCO, and MORALES only gave Dr.
Rigler “credit” towards. meeting his quota 1f Dr. Rigler used
defendants MEDEX or PRIME HOLDIﬁGS to @chedule MRIg and other
éncillary services; that is, Dr. Rigler was not given credit for MRIs
&nd.othér ancillary prbcedures gecheduled by Dr. Rigler and his staff
directly. .

f. Defendants IGLESTAS, ARGUELLO, MORALES, MEDEX, and éRIME
HOLDINGS receiﬁed kickbacks and bribes From providers of diagnostic
imaging services, inéluding Dr. Ronald CGrusd {charged elsewhére$ and
Company A,

g, Defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, and MORALES only gave Dr.
Steven Rigler “credit” towards meeting his quota for DME prescriptions
if such were fuifilled by .defendant MERIDIAN,

h.  Defendants VIGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, MORALES, VPROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME HOLDINGS,'MERIDIAN; and others obscured the
true nature of thelr financial relationships in order to conceal their

7
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corrupt cross-referral‘scheme designed fdr the referral of applicépts ‘
to specific providers of ancillary procedures and DME.

i. Defendants  IGLESIAS,  ARGUELLO,  MORALES,  PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULIN&, MEDEX, PRIME ﬁOLbINGS, and MERIDIAN discussed via
telephone calls, text messages, emails, and in-person meetings the
applicantg who had been corruptly assigned to Dr. Riglex to meet
quotas of referrals for ancillary"procedﬁfes and DME from specific
providers.

1. Defendantes IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, lMORALES,. PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME HOLDINGS, and MERIDIAN utilized interstate
facilitieé; including ceilular telephones and - emaill, in order to
coordin&te and promote the corrupt crose-referral scheme desgigned to
ensure an average guota of referrals for ancillary'prOCedures and DME
to specific providers by Dr. Rigler.

| k. Defendants IGLESTAS, ARGUELLO, MORALES, and MERIDIAN used
the mails and wires to send bille to insurers for DME provided to
applicants they had procured by the corrupt cross~£eferral scheme
entered intc with Dr. Rigler,

‘l. Defendants IGLESIAS{ ARGUELLO,- MORALES, PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME HOLDINGS, and MERIDIAN intended- other
provlders, including Dr, drusd and‘Comﬁany A, to use the mails and
wires to bill insurers for ancillary procedures provided to applicants
asgigned to Dr. Rigler as part of the corrupt créss~referral,scheme.

m. Defendante . IGLESIAS; ARGUELLO, MORALES, PROVIDENCE
SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME HOLDINGS, and MERIDIAN, and co-consplrators
Dx. @rusd and Company A, concealed from insurers and patients the
material fact that réferrals were made because of bribes and kickﬁacks
specifically prohibited by California law.

8
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16, Uging the mannersgs and means deséribed above, defendants
IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO, MQRALES, PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME
HOLDINGS, and MERIDIAN submitted and caused tg'be submitted millions
of dollarsg in claims for ancillary procedures and DME procured through
the payment of bribesland kickbacks in the form of the coxrupt cross-
referral scheme.

OVERT ACTS

17, In furtherance of the conspifacy and in order to effect the
objeéts thereof, the defendants and othex co—conspifators caused the
following overt acts in the Southern District of California and
elgewhere:

a. Prior to.August 2013, defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO and
PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING referred applicants to Dr. Rigler's cl}nics for
treatment:.

b, On or about'Septémber 4, 5013, defendahts IGLESIAS and
PRIME  HOLDINGS emailed to Julian Garcia {(charged eléewhere)
spreadsheets documenting MRI referrals by Dr. Rigler's clinice from
January through August 2013 for.applicants who had been referred to
Dx . Rigler by defendant PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING. |

<. In .or about September 2013, defendants IGLESIAS,
ARGUELLO, PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING and Julian Garcia (charged elséwhere)
met with Dr. Rigler and told him that applicants would ‘only be
referred to his clinics if- Dr. Rigler, in turn, referred those
applicants for a certain amount of ancillary procedures and DME from
prbviders‘designateé by defendants IGLESIAS and ARGUELLO.

d. In or -about September 2013, défendants IGLESIAS,
ARGUELLO, PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING and Julian Garcia (charged elsewhere)
told Dr. Rigler that a company operated by Dr. Grusd and Company A

8
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were the two entities that would provide MRI services for Dr. Rigler’s
applicants, and explained that Dr. Rigler would have to schedule MRIs
through defendant MEDEX in order to receive corrupt paymentg from the
congpirators. |

e. On or about September 6, 2013, defendant IGLESIAS
emailed Julian Garcia {charged elsewhere) and- Dr. Rigler with
spreadsheets docunenting DME and nerve conduction velocity (“NCv”)
testing reférrals by Dr. Rigler’s clinice from January through Zugust
2013 for applicants that had been referred to Dr. Rigler by defendant
PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING. _

f. In or about the Spring of 2014, defendants IGLﬁSIAS and
ARGUELLO informed Dx. Rigler that MRis.»would only be completed by
Company A because Dr. Grusd (charged elsewhere) had fallen‘behind.in

paying bribes and kickbacks for MRIs referred to his companies by

defendant MEDEX,

g. '~ In-or about October 2014, defendant IGLESIAS instructed

Dr. Rigler that he was expected to generate $600 per patient in

ancilléry referrals for each applicant'in order to continue reﬁeiving
referrals.

h. O or about Feb&uaxy 12, 2015, defendant TGLESTAS
texted Dr. Rigler expressging concern ét the low wvolume of MRI
referrals,

i, Oon or about February 23, 2015, defendant IGLESIAS
texted Dr. Rigler the numper of applicantg Dr. Rigler or his staff had

referred for MRI&2 through defendant MEDEX.
//

//

//
10
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7. On or about February 23, 2015, defendant IGLESIAS

texted Dr. Rigler expressing concern at the low number of referralg to

defendant MERIDIAN for DME and asked to meet with Dr, Rigler to

discuss referrals for ancilillary procedures and DME.
k. On or about February 23, 2015, defendants IGLESIAS and
MORALES utilized email to review referrals for DME to defendant

MERIDIAN by Dr. Rigler.

1. On or about February 24, 2015, defendants MORALES and |

PRIME HOLDINGS emailed a member of Dr. Rigler's staff with a list of
DME referrals received from Dr. Rigler f£rom December 2014 through
Pebruary 2015. ..

m. In or about April 201%, defendants IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO,
MORALES and PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING cut off the referral of applicants
to Dr. Rigler‘s clinics, -

. cn or-ébout April 17, 2p15, defendant MORALES texted
Dr. Rigler that he intended to discuss the cutoff with defendant
IGLESIAS, |

o. on or about April 22, 2015, defendant ARGUELLO spoke
with Dr. Rigler.via a -cellular telephone and advised that defendant
IGLESIAS confirmed that +the cut off of applicants by defendant
?ROVIDENCE SCHEDULING was due to Dr. Rigler being behind in the
referral of applicants for ancillary procedures and DME,

. O ¢r about April 22, 2015, defendants IGLESYTAS and
MORALES met with Dr. Rigler and advised him that he was approximatelf
460,000 behind inl referrals for ancillary procedures and DME;
defendants IGLESIAS and MORALES adviged that referralg would resume if
Dr. Rigler wrote a szo,ooo-$30,ooo check to defendant PROVIDENCE

SCHEDULING to reduqe the amcunt owed.

11
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d. On or about April 22, 2015, dJdefendants IGLESIAS and
MORALES informed Dr.-Rigler that Company A was paying the defendants
for each MRI referral, but only i1if those referrals wefe gscheduled by
defendant MEDEX.

T, on or about April 22, 2015, defendant MORALES
ingtructed Dr. Rigler not to lsend text messages relating to the
referral of.applicants in obrder to conceal the conspirators’ i1llegal
referral gcheme.

g. On or about April 28, 2015, defendants TIGLESIAS and
ARGUELLO met with Dr. Rigler and reviewed the number of applicants
referred to Dr. Rigler in 2015 by defendant PRCVIDENCE SCHEDULING.

£. On or about April 28, 2015, defendant IGLESIAS
instructed Dr. Rigler not to mention IGLESIAS’ namé in text messages
in order to conceal from authorities the defendants’ i1llegal referral
gcheme., .

1. OCn or about May 12, 2015, defendants IGLESIAS and

ARGUELLO met with and informed Dr. Rigler that the defendants. tracked

the number of referrals for MRIs from Dr. Rigler’'s clinics to

defendant MEDEX, which are completed by Company A, and Dr, Rigler oniy
recelves credit for those MRIs scheduled by MEDEX.
All in vioclation of Title 18, United States Code, Seétion 371.
Counta 2-3
HONEST SERVICES MAIL FRAUD, 18 U.8.C. §§ 1341, 1346 AND 2

18. Paragraphs 1 through 14 of the Introductory Allegations are
realleged and incorporated by referehce.

19, Beginning on a date unknown and continuing through at least
April 2015, within the Southern District of éalifornia and elsewhere,
defendants . FERMIN TIALESIAS, CARLOCS ARGUELLO, MIGUEL MORALES,

12
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PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, INC., MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC.,, PRIME HOLDINGS
INT., INC., and MERIDIAN MEDICAL' RESOURCES, INC., d.b.a. Meridian
Reﬁab Care, knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devised a
material scheme to defraud, that i1e, to deprive patients of their
intangible right to Dr. Steven Rigler'’s honest services.

20, Paragraphs 15 through 17 of this TIndictment are reaileged
and incorperated by reference ag more fully déscribing the scheme to
defraud, that is, to Qeprive patients of thelr intangible right to Dr.
Rigler'sa honegt services,

21. ©On or about the dates set forth below, within the Southern
District of Califérnia and elsewhere, defendants FERMIN IGLESIAS,
CARLOS ARGURLL(O,; MIGUEL MORALES, PROVIDENCE .SCHEDﬁLING, INC.} MEDEX
SOLUTIO&S, INC., PRIME HOLDINGS INT.; INC., aﬁd. MERIDIAN MEDICAL
RESOURCES, INC., d.b.a. Meridian Rehab Care,- for the ﬁufpoée of
éxecuting‘ and attempting to execute the above-described scheme ané
artifice to defraud and deprive: knowingly cauged to be delivered by

U.8. mall according to the directiong thereon the following matter:

Count | Date Mail Matter .
2 October 21, lien form for reimbursement for ancillary
2034 procedures for J.C. gecured through the payment
of bribeg and kickbacks
3 October 28,
2074 lien form for reimbursement for ancillary

procedures for B.L. secured through the payment
of bribes and kickbacks

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sectioﬁs 1341, 1346
and 2.

/7
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FORFELTURE ALLEGATION

22, Paragraphs 1 through 21 lof thisg Indictment are realleged and;
incorporated as 1f fully set forth herein for the purpose of alleging
forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
section 981{a) (1) (c), and  Title 28, United . States Code,
Section 2461 {c). |

| 23, Upon conviction of the offenses of Congpilracy and Honest
Services . Mail Fraud és alleged in Counts 1 through .3, defendants
FERMIN IGLESTIAS, CARLOS ' ARGUELLO, MIGUEL MORALES, | PROVIbENCE
SCHEDULING, INC., MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC,, PRIME HOLDINGS INT.., INC.,
and MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESOﬂRCES‘. INC., d.b.a. Meridian Rehab Care,
shall forfeit to the United States all right, title, and interest in
any Property, real ‘or pergonal, that constitutes or was derived Erom
proceeds traceable to a violation of such offenses, a sum of money
equal to the total amount .of grésé proceéds derived, directly or
indirectly, from such offenses.

24. If any of the above de.scfibed forfeitable .proplerty, és a
regult of any act or omission of defendantg IGLESIAS, ARGUELLO,
MORALES, PROVIDENCE 'Sl'CHEDULING , MEDEX, PRIME HOLDINGS and MERIDIAN:
(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due ‘diligence;. {b) Illas been
transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third- ﬁarty; {c) has been
placed Dbeyond the Jjurisdiction 'of the Court; (d) has been
gubstantially diminished in value; or (e) hag been commingied with
other property which cannot be divided without difficuity; |
/! |
/!

1/
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it was the, K intent of the United Stétes, puxsuant to Titie 21, United
States .Code, Section 853(p) and Title 18, United States Code,
Section 9282{(b), to seek forfeiture of any other property of defendants
IGLESIAS, ARGUEHUD, MORALES, PROVIDENCE SCHEDULING, MEDEX, PRIME
HOLDINGS and MERIDIAN up to.. the value of the forfeitable jﬁroperty
described.above.

All pursuant teo Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (C),
and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 (c).

DATED: January 21, 2016,

Al TRUE BILL:

S Fordperson
LAURA E. DUFFY
United States Attorney

o Nl

VALERIE H. CHU
Assistant U.8. Attorney

3

CA OLIN - P HAN
Agais nt U.s. A rney

VS

FRED |A, SHEPPARD
Asﬁi tant U.S8. Attorney
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LAURA E. DUFFY

United States. Attorney

FRED SHEPPARD

Assistant United States Attorney
California Bar No. 250781
VALERIE H, CHU

Assistant United States Attorney
California Bar No. 241709
CAROLINE P. HAN

Assistant United States Attorney
California Bar No. 250301
Federal Office Building

880 Front Street, Room 6293
San Diego, California 92101-8893

Attorneys for United States of America

DEC -8 2046

A
ERKWE DISTRICT COURT
s WIASTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
By DEPUTY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALTFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V.

FERMIN IGLESIAS (1),
MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC. {5),

MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESOURCES, INC,

d.b.a. Meridian Rehab Care (7),

Defendants.

Case No. 16CR0131-BAS

PLEA AGREEMENT -

IT IS HEREBY AGREED between the plaintiff, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
througli its counsel, Laura E. Duffy, United States Attorney, and Fred Sheppard, Valerie H.

Chu and. Caroline P. Han, Assistant United States Attorneys, and defendants FERMIN

IGLESIAS (“Iglesias™), MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC. (“MedEx”), and MERIDIAN

MEDICAL RESOURCES, INC. dba MERIDIAN REHAB CARE (“Meridian”), with the

advice and consent of Michael Attanasio, counsel for Defendants, as follows: |

Flea Agreement

Def. Initials FA
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I
THE PLEA
Defendants agree to waive Indictment and plead guilty to a Superseding Information
charging Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health Care Fraud, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Defendant Iglesias consents to the forfeiture allegations in

States in the amount of §1,005,000.

In exchange, the United States agrees to (1) not bring any additional criminal charges
against Defendants for conduct outlined in the “Factual Basis” section of this plea
agreement and (2j move to digmiss the Indictment filed in this matter without pfejudice
when Defendants are sentenced unless a Defendant breaches the plea agreement or any of
the guilty pleas entered pursuant to this plea agreement are set aside for any reason. If any
Defendant breaches this agreement or any of the guilty pleas are set aside, section XII
below shall apply.

- Defendants expressly waive all constitutional and statutory defenses to the initiation
of any charges that the United States did not bring pursuant to this agreement.
| o
_ NATURE OF THE OFFENSE
A.  ELEMENTS EXPLAINED
Defendants understand that the offense to which Defendants are pleading guilty have

the following elements:
Conspiracy [18 U.S.C. § 1349]

1. There was an agreement between two or more persons to commit Honest |

Services Mail Fraud and Health Care Fraud; and
2. The defendant entered into the agreefnent knowing of at least one of its
objects and intending to help accomplish it. |
i
i

Plaa Agreement Def, Initials FA
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Honest Services Mail Fraud [18 U.S.C. § 1341 and 13461
1.  The defendant devised or knowingly participated in a scheme to deprive

a victimm of his or her right to a doctor’s honest services;

2. The scheme was an unlawful cross-referral scheme, that is, defendants
supplied patients to doctors and required the doctors to refer those
patients to certain providers of ancillary medical goods and services; and
the defendants received money from the providers or from healthcare
insurers as part of the scheme; .

3. The doctor, as a healthcare professional, owed a fiduciary duty to the

- patient, i.e., thé vietim; |

4,  The defendant acted with the intent to defraud by depriving the victim
of his or ber right to the doctor’s honest services;

5.  The defendant’s act was material; that is, it had a natural tendency to
influence, or was capable of influencing, a person’s acts; and

6. The defendant used, or caused someone to use, the mails to carry out or

| to attempt to carry out the scheme or plan,
Heath Care Fraud [18 U.S8.C. § 1347]

1. The defendant knowingly executed, or attempted to execute, a scheme

or artifice to defraud a health-care benefit program, or to obtain money
or property owned by, or under the custody or control of,- a health-care-
benefit program by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises. _

2. The false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises related

- to a material fact,

The defendant acted willfully and intended to defr-audl.'

4,  'The defendant did so in connection with the delivery of or pajrment for

health-care benefits, items, or services.

Plea Agreemant Def. Initials f‘A
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Corporate Criminal Liability
'As to MedEx and Meridian, a corporation is responsible for the acts of its agents or

employees, done within the scope of their authority. Additionally, the acts of a
corporation’s agent or employee are within the scopé of hig or her authority if those acts are
done on the corporation’s behalf or for its benefit in the performance of the agent’s general
duties. |

B. ELEMENTS UNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED

Defendants have fully discussed the facts of this case with defense counsel and agree | -

that they have committed each of the elements of the crime charged. Defendants further
admit that there is a factual basis for their guilty pleas. Specifically, Defendants admit:

1. = Carlos Arguello and defendant Fermin Iglesias (“Iglesias™) recruited
and/or facilitated the recruiﬁent of workers’ compensation applicants
(“applicants™) for legal and medical services in the Southern District of
California and elsewhere.

2,  The California Workers” Compensation Systemn (“CWCS”) required
that employers in California provide workers’ compensation benefits to
their employees for qualifying injuries sustained in the course of their
employment. -The CWCS required claims administrators to authorize
and pay for medical care which was “reaso_nably recjuired t cure or|
relieve the injured worker from the effects of his or her injury,” and
included medical, surgical, chiropractic, and pharmaccuticals. CWCS
insurers were private plans, affecting conﬁmerce, under which medical
benefits, items and services were provided to indii’iduals, and therefore
were “health care benefit programs”-under 18US.C. § 24(b). ‘

3. From at least 2013 through at least May 2()‘15, withitr the Southern
District of California and elsewhere, Defendants Iglesias, MedEx, Primel
Holdings International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel
Morales, and Providence Scheduling, Inc., did knowingly and

Fleaa At_}’.l:eéﬂ.néﬁl‘lt‘ 4 ‘ Def. Initials __&
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intentionally conspire with and others to: commit Honest Services Mail
Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 and 1346, and Health Care
Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347.

A purpose of the conspiracy was to fraudulently obtain 1n§ney from
CWCS insurers by submitting claims for medical goods and services
that were secured through an unlawful cross-referral scheme in which
defendants supplied patients to doctors and required the doctors to refer
those patients to certain providers of ancillary medical goods and
services, and the dafendants received money from the providers or from
healtheare insurers as part of the scheme, in violation of the doctors’

fiduciary duty to their patients, and concealing from insurers and

~ patiénts the bribes and kickbacks that rendered the claims unpayable

Plea Agreement

under California law. |
It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales, and

Providence Scheduling, knowing that the payment of bribes and|

kickbacks in the form of a cross-referral scheme was unlawful, offered
to refer applicants wanting medical care to certain doctors, in exchange
for agreement by those doctors to refer such applicants for goods and
services to certain co-conspirators. - |
It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, Carlos Arguello, Miguel
Morales, and Providence Scheduling, knowing that the payment of
bribes and kickbacks in the form of a cross-referral scheme was
unlawful, assigned a “value” to certain ancillary procedures, such as

$30-50 per MRI referral, and informed the doctors of those vélues.

It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, Carlos Arguello, and Miguel

Morales set a quota for the “value” of services the doctors were expected

to prescribe for each applicémt sent to them by Providence Scheduling.

> Def. I.nitials FA
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10,

11.

12.

If a doctor fell behind in meeting the quota, it was a part of the
conspiracy that Iglesias, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales and
Providence Scheduling ceased to assign applicants to those doctors until
they agreed to make up for the shortfall in some manner.

It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, Carlos Arguello, Miguel
Morales, and Providence Scheduling only gave doctors “credit" towards
meeting their quotés if the doctors used MedEx 61‘ other entities under
the control of the defendants to schedule MRIs and other ancillary.
services. |

It was a part of the conspiracy that Defendants Iglesias, MedEx, Prime
Holdings International, Inc., as well as Carlos Arguello and Miguel
Morales, recetved kickbacks and bribes in the form of a cross-referral
sc.heme from providers of diagnostic imaging services, including Dr.
Ronald Grusd (charged elsewhere) and others. '
It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, Prime Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello and Miguel Morales only
gave doctors “credit” towards meeting their quotas for Durable Medical
Equipment (“DME”) referrals if those referrals were made to and filled
by Meridian. N

It was a patt of the conspiracy that Iglesie_ts, MedEx, Prime Holdings

International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales,

. Providence Scheduling, and others obscured the true nature of their

13.

Plea Agrasment

financial relationships in order to conceal their corrupt cross-referral

scheme.

-1t was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings |

International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales, and |

Providence Scheduling discussed via telephone calls, text messages,

6 Def. Initials GA
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14.

emails, and in-person meetings the applicants who had been corruptly
assigned to doctors to meet quotas for referrals to specific providers,

It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, MedEx, Primme Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales, and |.

Providence Scheduling utilized interstate facilities, including cellular.

- telephones and email, in order to coordinate and promote the corrupt

15.

16.

17.

18.

cross-referral scheme,

It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, MedEx, Prime.Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Catlos Arguello, Miguel Morales, and
Providence Scheduling used or caused to be used the mails and Wires to
send bills to insurers for DME provided to applicants procured via their
cotrupt cross-referral scheme, o |

It was a part of the conspiracy that Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello',' Miguel Mofales, and
Providence Scheduling intended other providers, including Dr. Grusd
and others, to use the mails and wires to bill insurers for procedures
provided to applicants procured via their corrupt créss-referral scheme.
It was a part of the conspiraéy that Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings
International, Inc., Meridian, Carlos Arguello, Miguel Morales, an&
Providence Scheduling, co-conspirator Dr. Grusd and others, concealed
from insurers and patients the material fact that referrals were made
because of bribes and kickbacks specifically prohibited by California
law. : '

Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings International, Inc., and Meridian
further admit the fruth of each paragraph in the infroductory allegations,

~ overt acts and manner and means sections of the indictment in this

Fles Agreement

matter, filed Januaty 21, 2016, or that the Government can prove each

paragraph in that indictment beyond a reasonable doubt,
L Def. Initials EA
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19.

20.

21.

22.

Flea Agreement

Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings International, Inc.; and Meridian
further admit that iglesias was acting in his role as an officer and
executive of MedEx, Meridian and Prime Holdings International, Inc.
when he directed that action be taken by one of those entities related to
the corrupt cross-refetral scheme related herein, |

MedEx, Meridian and Prime Holdings Internatiohal, Inc., acknowledge
that a corporation is responsible for the acts of its agents or employees, |
done within the scope ‘of their authority. MedEx, Meridian and Prime
Holdings International, Inc., further acknowledge that the acts of a
corporation’s agent or employee are within the scope of his or her
authority if those acts are done on the corporation’s behalf or for its

benefit in the performance of the agent’s general duties. As to the

- scheme outline in this factual basis and set forth in the indictment ﬁled

January 21, 2016, MedEx, Meridian and Prime Holdings International,
Inc., admit that Iglesias was acting within the scope of his employment
and for the benefit of MedEx, Meridian and Prime Holdings
International, Inc. |

Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings International, Ind., and Meridian
further admit that their scherme involved multiple doctors, including but |
not limited to Dr. Steven Rigler, Dr. D.K. and Dr. J.C.

In addition, Iglesias, MedEx, Prime Holdings Intemational,. Inc., and
Meridian agree and admit that the intended loss encompassed by them
and their conspirators’ total criminal conduct exceeded $9.5 million in
claims to healthcare insurance providers. Iglesias, MedEx, Prime
Holdings International, Inc., and Meridian further agree that the gross
income derived from this corrupt cross-referral scheme exceeded $5

million.

Def. Initials FA
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23. Igles.ias admits that over the course of the scheme, he received |
approximately $1,005,000 from Medex Solutions, Medex Funding
‘Solutions, and Prime Holdings International, Inc., and agrees that _this'
amount is forfeitable as proceeds of his unlawful conduct. |

nr
PENALTIES

Defendant Iglesias understands that the crime to which he is pleading guilty carries |

the following penalties:

A
B.

a maximum 20 years in prison;

a maximum $250,000 fine, or twice the gross gain or loss derived from the
offense; | -

a mandatory special assessment of $100 per count; and

a term of supervised release of 3 years. Defendant understands that failure to
comply with any of the conditions of supervised release may result in.
revocation of supervised release, requiring defendant to serve in prison, upon
any such revocation, all or part of the statutory maximum term of supervised
release for the offense that resulted in such term of supervised release.

an order from the Court pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A that Defendant make

mandatory restifution to the victims of the offense of conviction, or the

| estate(s) of the victims(s). Defendant understands that the Court shall also |

order, if agreed to by the parties in this plea agreement, restitution to persons
other than the victims of the offense of conviction.
an order of forfeiture of any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is

derived from proceeds traceable to the offense.

Defendants Medex Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical Resources, Inc., understand

that the ctime to which they are pleading guilty carries the following penalties:

A.

Plea Agreement

a maximum 5 years of probation, and a minimum of 1. year of probation;
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a maximum fine of $500,000, or twice the gross gain or loss derived from

- the offense;

a mandatory special assessment of $400 per count; .
an order from the Court pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A that defendant make
restitution to the victim(s) of the offense of conviction, 6r the estate(s) of the
victims(s); and .
forfeiture of all property that constitutes or is derived from proceeds
traceable to the offense to which Defendant is pleading guilty (18 U.S.C.
§ 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)). _
Defendant understands that the Court may also order, if agreed to by the
parties in this plea agreement, restitufion to persons other than the victim(s)
of the offense of conviction.
v
DEFENDANTS’ WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS

The defendants understand that this guilty plea waives the right to:

A,

m o 0w

F.

Continue to plead not guilty and require the Government to prove the
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt;

A speedy and public trial by jury;

The assistance of counsel at all stages of trial;

Confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses;

Testify and present evidence and to have witnesses testify on behalf of|
defendant; and, |

Not testify or have any adverse inferences drawn from the failure to testify.

The defendants knowingly and voluntarily waive ‘any rights and defenses the

defendants may have under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment to the |

United States Constitution to the forfeiture of property in this proceeding or any related civil

proceeding.

Tlea Agreemant 10 Def. Initials £A




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

Case 3:16-cr-00131-BAS Document 83 Filed 12/08/16 Page 11 of 23

A4
DEFENDANTS ACKNOWLEDGE NG PRETRIAL RIGHT TO BE PROVIDED
WITH IMPEACHMENT AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE INFORMATION

 The Government represents that any information establishing the factual innocence
of defendant known to the undersignedvprosecutor in this case has been turned over to
defendant. The Government will continue to provide such information establishing the
factual innocence of Defendants. |

' Defendants understand that if this case proceeded to trial, the Government would be
requited to provide imﬁeachment information relating to any informants or other witnesses.
In addition, if Defendants raised an affirmative defense, the Government would be 'required
to provide information in its possession that supports such a defense. Defendants
acknowledge, however, that by pleading guilty defendants will not be provided this
information, if any, and Defendants also waive the right to this information. Finally,
defendants agree not to attempt to withdraw the guilty plea or to file a collateral attack
based on the existence of this information, '
VI

DEFENDANTS’ REPRESENTATION THAT GUILTY
PLEA 1S KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY

Each defendant represents that:

A.  Defendant has had a full opportunity to discuss all the facts and circumstances
of this case with defense counsel and has a clear understanding of the charges
and the consequences of this plea. Defendant understands that, by pleading
guilty, defendant may be giving up, and rendered ineligible to- receive,
valuable government benefits and civic rights, such as the right to vote, the
right to possess a firearm, the right to hold office, and the right to serve on a
jury. Defendant further understands that the conviction in this case may
subject defendant to various collateral consequences, mcluding but not limited

- to deportation, removal or other adverse immigration consequences;
revocation of probation, parole, or supervised release in another case;
debarment from government contracting; and suspension or revocation of a
professional license, as well ag civil and administrative liability, none of
which will serve as grounds to withdraw defendant’s guilty plea.

Pileas Ag.]:l:é:res:m:m; 11 Def. Initials EA B
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.B.  No one has made any promises or offered any rewards in return for this |
guilty plea, other than those contained in this agreement or otherwise
disclosed to the Court.

C.  No one has threatened defendant or defendant's family to induce this guilty
plea.

D. Defendant is pleading guilty because in truth and in fact defendant is guilty
and for no other reason,
Vil

AGREEMENT LIMITED TO U.S. ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

This plea agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's Office for the Southern
District of California, and cannot bind any other federél, state or local prosecuting,
administrative, or regulatory authorities, although the Government will bring this plea |
agreement to the attention of othet authorities if requested by Defendants.

- VIII _
APPLICABILITY OF SENTENCING GUIDELINES

Defendants understand the sentence imposed will be based on the factors set forth

in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). Defendants understand further that in imposing the sentence, the

sentencing judge must consult the United States Sentencing Guidelines (Guidelines) and
fake them inio account. Defendants have discussed the Guidelines with defense counsel
and undelrstand that the Guidelines are only advisory, not mandﬁtory, énd the Court may
impose a sentence more severe or less severe than otherwise applicable under the
Guidelines, up to the maximum in the statute of conviction, Defendants understand further
that their sentences cannot be determined until a presentence report has been prepared for
each defendant by the U.S. Probation Office and both defense counsel and the Government |
have had an opportunity to review é,nd challenge the presentence report. | Nothing in this
plea agreement shall be construed as limiting the Government's duty to provide complete
and accurate facts to the district court and the U.S. Probation Office.

12
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IX
SENTENCE IS WITHIN SOLE DISCRETION OF JUDGE

This plea agreement is made pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure
11(0)(1)(3). Defendants understand that the sentence is within the sole discretion of the
sentencing judge; The Government has not made and will not make any representation as
to what sentence Defendants will receive. Defendants understand that the sentencing judge
may impose the maximum sentence provided by statute, and is also aware that any estimate
of the probable sentence by defense counsel is a prediction, not a promise, and is not
binding on the Court. Likewise, the recommendation made by the Government isl not

binding on the Court, and it is uncertain at this time what Deféndants' sentences will be.

Defendants also have been advised and understand that if the sentencing judge does not

follow any of the parties' sentencing recommendations, Defendants nevertheless have no
right to withdraw their pleas. |
| X
PARTIES' SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS
A.  SENTENCING GUIDELINE CALCULATIONS
Although the parties understand that the Guidelines are only advisory and just one-

of the factors the Court will consider under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) in imposing a sentence, |
the United States and Defendant Iglesias will jointly recommend the following Base

Offense Level, Specific Offense Characteristics, Adjustments and Departures:

1. Base Offense Level [§ 2B1.1] 7

2. Intended loss more than $9.5 million +20
- [§ 2BL1MGY1)(EK)]

3. Sophisticated Means [§ 2B1.1(b)(10)(C)] +2

4. Aggravated Role [§ 3B1.1(a)] - H

5. Abuse of Position of Trust {§ 3B1.3] 2

6.  Acceptance of Responsibility [§ 3B1.1] -3

Plea Agreement 13 Def. Initials § g
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. Although the parties understand that the Guidelines are only advisory and just one |
of the factors the Court will consider under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) in imposing a sentence,
the United States and Defendants Medex Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical Resources,
Inc., will jointly recommend the following Base Offense Level, Specific Offense
Characteristics, Adjustments and Departures. Moreover, Defendants Iglesias, Medex {
Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical Resources, In¢., agree that the conduct of Defendant
Prime Holdings International, Inc., or any company in which Defendant Prime'Holdings

International, Inc. has an interest, may be considered in determining the applicable fine:

1.  Base Offense Level [§ 2B1.1] 7

2. Intended loss more than $9.5 million +20
[USSG §2B1.1(b)(1)(D)] |

3. Base Fine — Offense Level 27 $8.5 million
[USSG §8C2.4(d)] -

4. Culpability Score 5

[USSG §§8C2.5(a)]

5. Multiplier [USSG §8C2.6 ] 1-2

Guideline Fine Range [USSG §8C2.7]: $8.5 million - $17 million
B. ACCEPTANCE OF RESPONSIBILITY
Notwithstanding paragraph A.6 above, the USAO will not bc obligated to

recommend any adjustment for Acceptance of Respensibility under U.S.5.G. §§ 3E1.1 or
gC2.51f ﬁny Defendants engage in conduct inconsistent with acceptance of responsibility
including, but not limited to, the following: )
1. Fails to truthfully admit a complete factual basis as stated in the plea
at the time the plea is entered, or falsely denies, or makes a statement
inconsistent wi_th, the factual basis set forth in this agreement;
2. Falsely denies prior criminal cb'nduci: Ot convictions;
3. Is untruthful with the Government, the Court or probation officer;

4. Materially breaches this plca agreement in any way; or

Plea Agreenent : 14 Def. Initials Eé
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5.  Contests or assisfs any third party in contesting the forfeiture of
property(ies) seized in connection with this case, and any
property(ies) to which the defendant has agreed to forfeit as set forth
in the attached forfeiture addendum. |

C. - FURTHER ADJUSTMENTS AND SENTENCE REDUCTIONS

INCLUDING THOSE UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 3553

The parties agree that Defendants may request or recommend additional downward |

adjustmenfs, departures, including criminal history departurcs under USSG § 4A1.3, or
sentence reductions under 18 U.S.C. § 3553, other than those related to the adjlistments set
forth in Section X, paragraph A above. The Government will oppose any such downward
adjustments, departures and sentence reductions not set forth in Section X, paragraph A
above. _ |

D.  NO AGRFEMENT AS TO CRIMINAL HISTORY CATEGORY

The parties have no agreement as to defendant's Criminal History Category.

E. "FACTUAIL BASIS” AND “RBLEVANT CONDUCT" INFORMATION

The parties agree that the facts in the "factual basis" paragraph of this agreement are -

| true, and may be considered as "relevant conduct” under USSG § 1B1 .3 and as the nature |

and circumstances of the offense under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(&){1)
F.  PARTIES’ RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING CUSTODY

The parties agree that the Government will recommend that Defendant Iglesias be

sentenced within the advisory guideline range as calculated by the Government pursuant
to this agreement.
G.  SPECIAL AS SES%MENTJFINEIREST] TUTION/FORFEITURE .

1. Special Agsessment,

The parties will jointly recommend that Defendant Iglesias pay a special assessment
in the amount of $100.00 per count of conviction in the federal case to be paid forthwith at

the time of sentencing. The partics will jointly recomtnend that Defendants Medex

Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical Resources, Inc., pay a special assessment in the
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amount of $400.00 per count of conviction in the federal case to be paid forthwith at the
time of sentencing; The special assessments shall be paid through the office of the Clerk of
the District Court by bank or cashier’s check or money order méde payable to the “Clerk,
United States District Court.”
| 2. Fine | |
In light of the forfeiture order as to Defeﬁdént Igl‘.esias, the parties do not request a
fine as to him. As to Defendants Medex Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical Resources,

Inc., parties agree that the Government will recommend a fine within the range calculated

.above. Moreover, Defendants Iglesias, Medex Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical

Resources, Inc., agree that Defendants Medex Solutions, Inc. and Meridian Medical -
Resources; Inc., are jointly and severally liable as to any fine imposed.

3.  Restitution. |
In this case, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(c)(3)(B), because determining complex
issues of fact related to the cause or amount of the victims’ losses ‘would unduly burden the
sentehcing process, the parties agree to jointly recommend no restitution.

Defendants understand that, notwithstanding the parties’ rec(_)mmenda_tion, victims
may submit claims for restitution to the Court, and the Court may order restitution in an
amount up to the total losses suffered by victimns as a result of Defendants’ scheme.
Defendant agrees that a restitution award in an unanticipated amount is not grounds to
withdraw Defendant’s guilty plea. |

Defendant further understands that victims may submit claims for restitution to the

United States, which will convey them to the Court and may advocate on behalf of the :
victims as required by the Mandatory Victim Rights Act. The patties agree that the |

Government’s fulfilling statutory duties to victims shall not constitute a breach of this ialea
agreement, |

If restitution is ordered, the total amount of restitution shall be due immediately and
shall be ordered to be paid forthwith. Any payment schedule imposed by the Court
es.tablishes only a minimum obligation. Defendants will make a good faith effort to pay

Flea Agreement 6 Def. Initials Eé
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any restitution. Regardless of Defendants’ compliance, any payment schedule does not
limit the United States’ ability to collect additional amounts from Defendants through all

available collection remedies at any time. -

In addition, Defendants agree to waive any claimn for reimbursement for any claim -

submitted in their name or in the name of Prime Holdings International, Inc. (including any

DBA or successor in interest of the defendants), or any entity operating on their behalf or
under their control from 2013 through 2015 inclusive in connection with the cross-referral
scheme outlined in the facmal basis and the Indictment filed January 21, 2016.

4._ Forfeiture |

Defendant Iglesias consents to the forfeiturc allegations of the Superseding

Information. Defendant Iglesias admiits that the money judgment in the amount of
$1,005,000 represents proceeds of the offense of conviction and is subject to forfeiture to
the United States pursuantto 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (c). Defendant
Iglesias further agrees that the United States may seek to substitute other property up to the
full amount of the judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).

Defendant Iglesias consents and agrees to the immediate entry of an Order of

|t forfeiture upon entry of the guilty plea. Defendant Iglesias further agrees that upon entry |

of the Order of forfeiture, such Order will be considered final as to Defendant Iglesias’

nterests. Defendant Iglesias waives the requirements of Federal Rules of Criminal

Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice of the forfeiture in the charging instrument,

announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing, and incorporation of the forfeiture in the
judgment. Defendant Iglesias understands that the forfeiture of assets is part of the
sentence that may be imposed in this case and waives any failure by the Court to advise
Defendant of this, pursuant to Rule 11(b)(1)(J), at the time the Court accepts the guilty
plea. | ' |

Defendant Iglesias agrees that interest shall acerue on the judgment from the date of

entry of the Order of forfeiture and shiall accrue thereon m accordance with 18 1.S,C..

§3612(f) and 28 U.S.C. §1961. Defendant Iglesias agrees that the United States may take
17
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any and all actions available to it to collect the full amount of the judgment, including, but
not limited to enforcement of the judgment against substitute assets as provided n 21
U.8.C. §853(p) and actions available under the Federal Debt Collections Procedure Act.
Defendant Iglesias agrees to use his best efforts to pay the judgment.

Defendant Ig].esias. further agrees that the criminal forfeiture mbney judgment
imposed by the Court will be (i) subject to immediate enforcement, and (ii) submitted to
the Treasury Offset Program so that any federal payment or transfer of retwrned property.
the Defendant Iglesias receives may be offset and applied to the outstanding balance on the
forfeiture judgment. 7 |

Defendant Iglesias further agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory challenges

in any manner (including direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) to any forfeiture

Il carried out in accordance with this agreement on any grounds, including that the forfeiture

constitutes an excessive fine or punishment. Defendant Iglesias agrees to take all steps as
requested by the United States to pass clear title to forfeitable assets to the Unifed States,
and to testify truthfully in any judicial forfeiture proceeding.

Defendant Tglesias agrees that the forfeiture prévisions of this plea agreement are
intended to, and will, survive Defendant Iglesias, notwithstanding the abatement of any
underlying criminal conviction after the execution of this agreement. The forfeitability of
any particular property pursuant to this agreement shall be determined as if Defendant
Iglesias had survived, and that determination shall be binding upon Defendant Iglesias’
heirs, successors and assigns until the agreed forfeiture, including any agreed money
judgment amount, is collected in full.

The forfeiture described above shall be paid through the Office of the Clerk of the
District Court by bank or cashier’s check or money order made payable to the “Clerk,
United States District Court.” Defendant Iglesias agrees and consents, that upon execution
of this plea agreement, the United States may obtain credit reports on Defendant Iglesias

and share the contents with U.S. Probation and the Court.

o _ 18 '
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In addition, Iglesias, MedEx, and Meridian agree that not later than 30 days after
pleading guilty, Iglesias, MedEx, and Meridian shall provide to the United States, under
penalty of petjury, a financial disclosure form listing all assets and financial interests
valued at more than $1,000. Defendants understand that these assets and financial interests :
include all assets and financial interests in which Iglesias, MedEx, and Meridian have an
interest, direct or indirect, whether held in their own name or in the name of another person -
or corporate entity, in any property, real or personal, Iglesias, MedEx, and Meridian shall
also identify all assets valued at more than $5,000, which have been transferred to third
partics since January 26, 2016, including the location of the assets and the identity of the
third parties. Iglesias shall provide the same disclosure outlined in this paragraph on behalf
of Prime Holdings International, Inc., not later than 30 days after Iglesias has pléd guilty.

H. SUPERVISED RELFASE '

_ If the Court imposes a term of supervised release, Defendant Iglesias agrees that he
will not later seek to reduce or terminate early the term of supervis_ed release until he has
served at least 2/3 of his term of supervised release and has fully.paid and satisfied any .
special assessments, fine, criminal forfeiture judgment and restitution judgment. .

| X1 .
DEFENDANT WAIVES APPEAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK

Defendants waive (give up) all rights to appeal and to collaterally attack every aspect
of the convictions and sentences, including any restitution order unless the Court Imposes
a custodial sentence above the high end of the guideline range as calculated in paragraphs
XA and X.B above, without consideration of any other adjustments or departures, If the
custodial sentence is greater than the high end of that range, Defendant may appeal the
sentence only, but the United States will be free to support on appeal the sentence actually
imposed.

Defendants waive, to the full extent of the law, any right to collaterally attack the
convictions and/or sentences, except for a post-conviction collateral attack based ona claim |
of ineffective assistance of counsel.

19
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- If Defendants appeal, the United States may support on appeal the sentence or
restitution order actually imposed.
XTI
BREACH OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT
A, MATERIAL BREACH OF PLEA AGREEMENT

Defendants acknowledge, understand, and agree that if Defendants violate or fail to

perform any of Defendants” obligations under this agreement, such violation or failure to

perform will constitute a material breach of this agreement.

Defendants acknowledge, undérstand, and agree further that the following non- .

exhaustive list of conduct by Defendants unquestionably constitutes a material breach of
this plea agreement: |

1. Failing to plead guilty pursuant to this agreement;
2. Withdrawing the guilty plea or attempling to withdraw the guilty plea;

3. Failing to fully accept responsibility as established in Section X,
paragraph B, above; '

4. Failing to appear in court;
5.  Failing to abide by any lawful court order related to this case;

6.  Appealing or collaterally attacking the sentence or conviction in
violation of Section X1 of this pléea agreement; or :

7. Engaging in additional criminal conduct from the time of arrest until

the time of sentencing.
/

i

B. CONSEQUENCES OF BREACH

20
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In the event of Defendants’ material breach of this plea agreement, Defendants will
not be able to enforce any of its pi'ovisions, and the United States will be reliequ of all its
obligations under this plea agreement. For éxample, the United States may pursue any :
charges including those that were dismissed, promised to be dismissed, or not filed as a
result of this agreement (Defendants agree that any statute of limitations relating to such
charges is tolled as of the date of this agreement; Defendants also waive any double
jeopardy defense to such charges). In addition, the United States may move to set aside
Defendant's guilty plea. Defendants may not withdraw their guilty pleas based on the
United States’ puréuit of remedies for Defendants’ breach.

X |
COMPLETE WAIVER OF PLEA-DISCUSSION EXCLUSION RIGHTS

In exchange for the United States’ concessions in this agreement, Defendants agree

that: (i) the stipulated factual basis statement in this agreement; (ii) any statements made
by Defendants, under oath, at the guilty plea hearing (before either a Magistrate- Judge or a
District Judge); and (iii) any evidence derived from such statements, are admissible against |
Defendants in the pmsécution’s case-in-chief and at any other stage of the proceedings in
any prosecution of or action against Defendants on the current charges and/or any other
charges that the United States may pursue against Defendants, Addifionally, Defendants
knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waive any argument under the United States
Constitution, any statute, Federal Rule of Evidence 410, Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 11{f), and/or any other federal rule, that these statements or any evidence dérived
from these statements should be suppressed or are inadmissible. Defendants’ WaiVer of the
aforementioned rights is effective as soon as the parties sign this agreement, and is not
contingent upon the Court ultimately accepting Defendants’ guilty pleas.
//
/
X1y
ENTIRE AGREEMENT
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This plea, agreement embodies the entire agreement between the parties and |

supersedes any other agreement, wrilien or oral.
XV
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING -

No modification of this plea agreement shall be effective unless in writing signed by

all parties,
" | XVI
DEFENDANT AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT

By signing this agreement, Defendants certify that Defendants have read it.

Defendants have discussed the terms of this agreement with defense counsel and fully
understands its meaning and effect. '
XvIi |
DEFENDANTS SATISFIED WITH COUNSEL

Defendants have consulted with counsei and are satisfied with counsel's

representation. This is Defendants’ independent opinion, and their counsel did not advise
them about what to say in this regard.
LAURA E. DUFFY

| United States Attorn
1204 i :
DATED | | A s PP
' stant U
2 el \OZ/&%W
DATED _’ VALERIE H, CHU

Assistant U.S. Altorney

/5] [ 0 (et Y

DATED - CAROLINE P. HAK~
Assistant U.S. Attorney
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/Z/of/ / Sl et o
DATED MICHAEL ATTANASIO
' Defense Counsel N

IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS TO WHICH I AGREE, I
SWEAR UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT THE FACTS IN THE
"FACTUAL BASIS" SECTION ABOVE ARE TRUE,

12l 04 016 <7/
DATED ! - FERMIN IGLESIAS
' Defendant

Defendant’s Signature: As corporate representative for Defendants Medex Solutions, Inc.
and Meridian Medical Resources, Inc., I have consulted with counsel for Defendants and
fully understand all rights of Defendants with respect to this Plea Agreement Further, 1
fully understand all rights with respect to 18 U.S.C. § 3553 and the provisions of the
Sentencing Guidelines that may apply in this case. I have read this Plea Agreement and |
carefully reviewed every part of it with counsel for Defendants, I understand this agreement
and voluntarily accept it on behalf of Defendants. I have valid authority to sign on behalf of
Defendants. -

12)ou /2016
DATED

FERMIN IGLESIAS
Chief Executive Officer
Defendant MEDEX SOLUTIONS, INC.

FERMIN IGLESIAS
Chief Executive Officer
Defendant MERIDIAN MEDICAL RESOURCES, INC.
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